AirBoss of America Corp.

2010 Annual Report

AirBoss of America Corp.

AirBoss of America Corp. is one of North America’s largest
custom compounding companies. We develop, manufacture, and
sell high-quality proprietary rubber-based products offering
enhanced performance and productivity to transportation,
defence and industrial markets. AirBoss has a capacity to supply
250 million pounds of rubber annually to a diverse group of
rubber manufacturers. We are dedicated to unequalled
excellence in the manufacturing of our high performance
proprietary rubber-based products.
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Rubber Compounding

Defense and Industrial Products (“AEP”)

Manufactures custom compounds from
natural and synthetic rubber gum, binding
agents, and chemicals. Uses state of the art
equipment, technical staff, and strong
customer focus to achieve consistent ontime service customers can depend on.

Manufacturer of chemical, biological,
radiological and nuclear (“CBRN”) protective
wear for defense and first response
applications. Manufactures extruded,
calendered, cushion gum, and compression
moulded rubber products.
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To Our Shareholders

AirBoss Rubber Compounding
The improved performance of the Rubber Compounding Division experienced in the first three quarters,
continued in the fourth quarter due to the addition of significant volumes of mixing for major tire companies.
Overall, 40% of the volume increase for the year was in the tire sector. This strong sales performance is expected
to continue well into the first part of 2011.
The increased utilization of plant and equipment helped to improve margins despite a continuing difficult pricing
environment for base materials such as natural rubber. Raw materials will continue to escalate in price in the
first half of 2011, however joint purchasing programs with major customers and the increased importance of
mixing of customer supplied materials, in the case of tire producers, has helped to mitigate the impact.
In order to continue the growth momentum in the US South East, the Company will open a product development
centre in Raleigh, North Carolina. This should be complete and operational in the second quarter of 2011.

AirBoss Engineered Products
AirBoss-Defense
The sale of chemical, biological, radiological and nuclear (“CBRN”) protective wear continued to be strong in
the fourth quarter and, with approximately 70% of 2011’s expected sales already covered by orders, this is
expected to continue for the balance of next year.
2010 saw the successful start-up of our new injection moulding facility in Vermont. By the end of the first quarter,
this facility was operating efficiently on a three shift basis to manufacture CBRN gloves for the US Military. This
operation is also a key initiative in the introduction of the next generation CBRN overshoe as well as balancing
our input costs between US and Canadian dollars.
Another key initiative is the launching of an R&D centre to accelerate the introduction of both additional personal
protection products as well as maintaining our leadership position with existing products through continuous
performance improvement. Projects managed by the Company in the centre will be a collaboration between
AirBoss and the Federal Government, as well as academic and industry partners.
Industrial Products
The Industrial products division also had a successful year, outperforming expectations while serving the
recreational vehicle and hose markets. The division will be adding further capabilities including inline straining
to improve quality and reduce costs on rubber mixed for AirBoss-Defense and strip capabilities to meet
customer requirements.
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2010 Highlights:
•

4th Quarter net income increases 31%

•

EPS increases 112% to $0.55

•

Dividends increased 69%

•

Rubber Compounding sales volumes increased 22%

•

Debt, net of cash, reduced 53%

Outlook
The strong financial performance of the first three quarters continued during the fourth quarter driven primarily
by increased volumes and capacity utilization in the Rubber Compounding business and strong demand for
AirBoss-Defense CBRN protective wear. We expect this to continue into 2011.
Rubber Compounding volumes are expected to be particularly strong in the first and fourth quarters which
mirror major tire company requirement forecasts. Volumes could be as much as 30% higher than in 2010 during
these periods. A new sales and compound development operation is planned for North Carolina to support the
increased sales levels and it should become operational in the second quarter of 2011.
Sales prices will increase due to significant raw material cost increases. Price increases have been accepted
throughout the market as manufacturers take steps to secure supply of materials that are becoming increasingly
difficult to source.
AirBoss-Defense continues to enjoy a high degree of visibility as by the end of February orders had been
received for approximately two thirds of the division’s annual sales budget for 2011. Our commitment to the
development of products in partnership with government, the academic community and business affiliates will
increase in 2011 and we expect to have a new dedicated development site in operation in the second half of
the year.
The financial condition of the Company continues to be strong with an excellent working capital position and
substantial unused borrowing capacity. We continue to pursue opportunities to broaden the scope of AirBoss
in personal protection products through both acquisition and product development.
We would like to thank our shareholders for their support. This support plus a successful year and a promising
outlook have allowed us to increase dividends during the year by 69%.

P.G. Schoch

R.L. Hagerman

Chairman

President and CEO
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations
The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of AirBoss of America Corp. (“AirBoss”
or the “Company”) has been prepared as of March 23, 2011 and should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and
Notes for the year ended December 31, 2010 prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. All tabular dollar
amounts are shown in thousands of Canadian dollars unless otherwise specified. Additional information regarding the Company, including its
Annual Information Form, can be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and on the Company’s website at www.airbossofamerica.com.
Forward-Looking Statements – Certain statements included herein, including those that express management's expectations or estimates of future
developments or AirBoss’ future performance constitute "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of applicable securities laws. Words such as
“may”, “could” “expects”, “anticipates”, “forecasts”, “plans”, “intends” or similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements.
Forward-looking statements are necessarily based upon a number of estimates and assumptions that, while considered reasonable by
management at the time the statements are made, are inherently subject to significant business, economic and competitive uncertainties
and contingencies. AirBoss cautions that such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other risks
that may cause AirBoss’ actual financial results, performance, or achievements to be materially different from its estimated future results,
performance or achievements expressed or implied by those forward-looking statements. Numerous factors could cause actual results to
differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements, including without limitation: changes in accounting policies and methods
including uncertainties associated with critical accounting assumptions and estimates; AirBoss’ ability to maintain existing customers or
develop new customers in light of increased competition; cyclical trends in the tire and automotive, construction, mining, and retail industries;
sufficient availability of raw materials at economical costs; weather conditions affecting raw materials, production and sales; potential product
liability and warranty claims; its dependence on key customers; equipment malfunction; changes in the value of the Canadian dollar relative
to the US dollar; ability to obtain financing on acceptable terms; environmental damage caused by it and non-compliance with environmental
laws and regulations; changes in tax laws and potential litigation; and the impact of general economic conditions.
This list is not exhaustive of the factors that may affect any of AirBoss’ forward-looking statements. Investors are cautioned not to put undue
reliance on forward-looking statements. All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to AirBoss or persons acting
on its behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by this notice. Whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, AirBoss
disclaims any intent or obligation to update publicly these forward-looking statements. Risks and uncertainties about AirBoss’ business are
more fully discussed under the heading “Risk Factors” section of the Company’s annual report on pages 15 to 16.
COMPANY PROFILE
Rubber Compounding
The Company is one of North America’s leading custom rubber mixers with the capacity to supply 250 million pounds of rubber compound
annually. The rubber mixing capabilities are located in Kitchener, Ontario and Scotland Neck, North Carolina. Approximately three quarters of
its customers by volume are located in the United States. Additional rubber mixing capabilities are available in Acton-Vale, Québec when it is
not being used to manufacture extruded and calendered Industrial Products.
Rubber compounds are utilized in many products and industries, including pneumatic and solid tire manufacturing, conveyor belting, roofing,
and automotive parts. Rubber Compounding is one of the few rubber compounders in North America who, due to the nature of its equipment
and its stringent quality assurance procedures, are approved suppliers to major tire companies. The majority of its business is serving a wide
range of customers in the mining, energy generation, warehousing and transportation industries. The Company provides custom compound
formulation and independent testing services from accredited laboratory facilities in Kitchener, Ontario.
AirBoss is a major consumer of commodities such as natural rubber, synthetic rubber and carbon black. These materials are sourced from
world markets and are typically paid for in US dollars.
AirBoss Engineered Products (“AEP”)
Based in Acton-Vale, Québec, AEP consists of two product lines; AirBoss-Defense and Industrial Products. AirBoss-Defense products are manufactured
in Acton-Vale Québec, Kitchener, Ontario and now Milton, Vermont.
AirBoss-Defense is a world leader in the development and sale of Chemical, Biological, Radiological and Nuclear (“CBRN”) protective wear. These
products are sold to major military and First Response customers in North America and Europe. Principal CBRN products include rubber overshoes,
gloves and gas masks which utilize AirBoss’ extensive expertise in rubber compound formulation. AirBoss-Defense also manufactures and sells CBRN
firefighter boots and Extreme Cold Weather (“ECW”) military footwear.
Industrial Products sells extruded and calendered rubber products serving the recreational, agricultural and industrial markets.
Highlights
•

Sales for year ended December 31, 2010 increased 14.5%

•

Cash generated from operations of $21 million

•

EPS for the year $0.55; a 112% increase

•

Strong fourth quarter for Rubber Compounding as tire sector business increases
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Selected Financial Information
2010

2009

$ 240,447

$ 209,921

13,051

6,276

0.55
0.54

0.26
0.26

26,977
21,042

16,313
28,692

Years ended December 31

Financial results:
Net sales
Net income
Net income per share
– Basic
– Diluted
EBITDA (non-GAAP financial measure)
Net cash provided by operating activities
Dividends declared per share
Capital expenditures

$

0.11
4,243

$

0.065
5,428

Financial position:
Total assets
Term loan and other debt
Shareholders’ equity

$ 144,042
23,700
79,273

Outstanding shares

$ 133,967
25,370
69,993

23,613*

23,899

*23,613 at March 23, 2011

Notable items
The Company has designated certain charges as notable items to assist discussions of their impact on the financial results. The items
reduce pre-tax income by $5.3 million in 2010 and $1.9 million in 2009.
2010

2009

Impacting pre-tax income
Inventory impairment charge to cost of sales
Foreign exchange impact on gross margin
Legal and other costs
Bad debt provision
Exchange gains on forward contracts

$

(5,300)
(584)
567
-

$

(4,300)
(500)
(567)
3,500

$

(5,317)

$

(1,867)

Non-GAAP Financial Measures
This MD&A is based on reported income in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) and on the
following non-GAAP financial measures, from continuing operations:
EBITDA

Earnings before interest income, interest expense, income taxes and depreciation and amortization

EBITDA, a non-GAAP measure, is directly derived from the consolidated financial statements, but does not have a standardized meaning
prescribed by GAAP and is not necessarily comparable to a similar measure presented by other issuers.
The Company discloses EBITDA, a financial measurement used by interested parties and investors to monitor the ability of an issuer to
generate cash from operations for debt service, financing working capital and capital expenditures and pay dividends. EBITDA is not a
measure of performance under GAAP and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for net income under GAAP.
A reconciliation of this measure is presented below:
2010

2009

EBITDA:
Net Income
Net financing interest expense
Depreciation and amortization
Provision for income taxes

$

13,051
1,490
5,355
7,081

$

6,276
1,736
5,582
2,719

EBITDA

$

26,977

$

16,313
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MD&A (cont’d)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS – 2010 compared to 2009
NET SALES FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Net Sales increased by 14.5% in 2010 primarily from higher compounding volumes. Approximately 83% (2009 – 75%) of all sales are
invoiced in US Dollars. A weaker US dollar reduced revenue by $22.5 million. The average exchange rate (CAD to USD) was $1.03 in 2010
compared to $1.14 in 2009.
Rubber Compounding
Operations
Net sales

2010
2009

163,255
132,876

Increase $
Increase %

30,379
22.9%

AEP &
Other

Total

77,192
77,045

240,447
209,921

147
0.2%

30,526
14.5%

Rubber Compounding
Sales increased by 22.9% compared to the same period in 2009. Most of this increase is attributed to a 22% increase in volume.
Approximately 40% of the volume increase is the mixing of customer supplied material and 60% of the increase is attributable to traditional
custom compounding activities. Price increases due to rising raw material costs were almost offset completely by changes in customer mix
and the impact of the higher Canadian dollar when translating US dollar sales.
There was solid revenue growth in virtually all custom compounding market sectors. Mixing activity for OEM tire companies increased
significantly during the fourth quarter and this trend is expected to continue into the first quarter of 2011.
AirBoss Engineered Products
Sales for the year remained relatively flat despite volume and price increases due to rising raw material costs. This was due to the negative
impact of translating US dollar denominated sales. The weaker US dollar lowered overall revenue growth by $7.0 million or approximately 9%.
Both the Defense and Industrial products sectors were similarly impacted.
Sales volumes for CBRN protective wear are expected to remain strong in 2011 for AirBoss-Defense as orders for approximately two-thirds of
the year’s budgeted sales volume has been received prior to March 2011. Sales of industrial rubber products have continued to trend
upward and equipment enhancements completed in the first quarter of 2011 will expand manufacturing capabilities.
GROSS MARGIN
Gross margin for the year ended December 31, 2010 was $35.5 million, an increase of $14.1 million over the 2009 amount of $21.4 million. This
was primarily attributable to higher volumes and the absence of raw material write-downs in Rubber Compounding. Margins in AEP were
negatively impacted by the rising Canadian dollar as US sales exceeded US dollar input costs.
Rubber Compounding
Operations
Gross Margin
Increase $
% of net sales

AEP &
Other

Total

2010
2009

11,867
(767)

23,658
22,206

35,525
21,439

2010
2009

12,634
7.3
(0.6)

1,452
30.6
28.8

14,086
14.8
10.2

Rubber Compounding
Gross margin for Rubber Compounding increased by $12.6 million in the year compared to 2009 from the following factors:
• A general improvement due to economic conditions allowing a return to near historical margin levels $5.2 million;
• Increases due to increased volume, including greater fixed manufacturing cost absorption $4.4 million;
• In the first quarter of 2009 the Company took a $4.3 million write-down to market of raw materials due to falling commodity prices. There
were no write-downs in 2010;
• The preceding margin increases were partially offset by decreases caused by exchange factors. Margins would have been $1.3 million
higher had exchange rates remained at 2009 levels.
Volatile raw material prices were a challenge in 2010 and this will continue into 2011.The implementation of a raw material customer co-purchase
program which matches purchases to customer requirements and world-wide sourcing has helped to mitigate the risk for both the Company
and its key customers.
AirBoss Engineered Products
Total margins for AirBoss Engineered Products increased by $1.5 million due to:
•
•

Higher sales $4.7 million;
Improved plant utilization $0.6 million due to higher volumes.

These gains were partially offset by $3.9 million due to the impact of a weaker US dollar.
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Management mitigates the impact of foreign exchange fluctuations on sales in AEP through the use of forward foreign exchange contracts
based on forecasted US dollar receipts; as required under Canadian GAAP, $3.5 million of exchange gains on these contracts relating to
2010 was recognized in 2009 reported under “other income”.
OPERATING EXPENSES
Operating expenses, in total, remained comparable to 2009 at $13.8 million and declined as a percentage of sales as a result of the higher
volumes in Rubber Compounding.
Rubber Compounding
AEP &
Unallocated
Operations
Other
Corporate Costs
Total
Operating expenses

Increase (decrease) $
% of net sales

2010
2009

5,443
6,600

2010
2009

(1,157)
3.3
5.0

5,503
4,839

2,836
2,371

664
7.1
6.3

465
N/A
N/A

13,782
13,810
(28)
5.7
6.6

Rubber Compounding
In Q3 of 2009, provisions for bad debts were increased by $0.5 million due to the bankruptcy of a customer of the Rubber Compounding
business. By the end of 2010, all of the amounts owing had been collected and the $0.5 million provision had been reversed.
R&D tax credits of $0.1 million were recognized as a reduction of R&D departmental costs in 2010.
AirBoss Engineered Products
Operating costs increased $1.0 million in 2010 due to incremental administrative costs relating to the new Vermont manufacturing facility. There
was also an increase in senior contract administrators and product development personnel and increased European sales and marketing
costs. This was offset by R&D tax credits recognized of $0.4 million.
Unallocated Corporate Costs
The costs were impacted $0.6 million by additional stock options granted and a $0.1 million decrease in retirement expense.
INTEREST, FOREIGN EXCHANGE AND OTHER INCOME
Rubber Compounding
Operations
Interest, FX &
Other Income
Increase (decrease) $
% of net sales

AEP &
Other

Unallocated
Corporate Costs

Total

2010
2009

195
346

1,377
(1,407)

39
(305)

1,611
(1,366)

2010
2009

(151)
0.1
0.3

2,784
1.8
(1.8)

344
N/A
N/A

2,977
0.7
(0.7)

Interest expense in 2010 was $1.5 million (2009: $1.7 million) and was impacted by lower borrowing levels.
Each quarter, the Company incurs unrealized foreign exchange gains and losses on the translation of foreign currency denominated asset
and liability balances including forward contracts. The amount fluctuates from quarter to quarter and is dependent on exchange rates and the
value of the net foreign assets or liabilities on hand. There was an exchange gain of $0.2 million in the current year (2009: $3.4 million gain).
To mitigate foreign exchange gains and losses, the Company uses a combination of US dollar denominated debt and forward sales of US
dollars to hedge its net foreign currency balance sheet position. In addition, the Company sells forward its expected net US dollar receipts for
the year when they are reasonably predictable, such as with the Defense division. As at December 31, 2010, the Company settled all its
forward contracts. These contracts had been recorded at fair market value.
Legal and other costs incurred of $0.6 million related to the original purchase of AEP were recorded in AEP during the second quarter of 2010
and $0.5 million in the fourth quarter of 2009.
The change in the Rubber Compounding amounts were not material and due principally to a minor reduction in miscellaneous income.
INCOME TAX EXPENSE
The Company recorded an income tax expense of $7.1 million or an effective income tax rate for the year of 35.2% (30.2% in 2009).
We conduct business in the US and in Canada. Each jurisdiction is subject to different tax rates and the Company’s effective tax rate varies
quarter to quarter depending on the mix and volume of business in each jurisdiction as well as the impact of incentives, non-tax-deductible
expenses, and the resolution of prior period tax assessments.
The primary factor contributing to the difference in effective tax rate:
•

During 2010, approximately 50% of the profits were generated in the US, a higher tax rate jurisdiction.
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MD&A (cont’d)

NET INCOME AND EARNINGS PER SHARE
Net income in 2010 amounted to $13.0 million compared to $6.3 million in 2009 primarily attributable to stronger rubber compounding
results. The basic and fully diluted net income per share were $0.55 (2009 – $0.26) and $0.54 (2009 – $0.26) respectively based on basic and
fully diluted shares outstanding and 23,912,868 (2009 – 23,716,281) and 24,227,244 (2009 – 23,716,281).
QUARTERLY INFORMATION
Net Income (Loss)
Quarter Ended

Net Income (Loss)
per share

Net Sales

Total

Basic

Diluted

2010
December 31, 2010
September 30, 2010
June 30, 2010
March 31, 2010

64,680
59,868
62,014
53,885

3,451
3,521
3,047
3,032

0.15
0.14
0.13
0.13

0.14
0.14
0.13
0.13

2009
December 31, 2009
September 30, 2009
June 30, 2009
March 31, 2009

57,729
50,562
48,545
53,085

2,637
3,820
(603)
422

0.11
0.16
(0.03)
0.02

0.11
0.16
(0.03)
0.02

Fourth Quarter 2010
Net sales in the fourth quarter of 2010 increased by $6.9 million compared to 2009 broken down as follows:
•

$8.8 million increase for rubber compounding attributable to higher volumes and price increases due to higher raw material costs;

•

$1.9 million decrease for AEP due to seasonal factors as two lots of CBRN gloves were not able to be shipped until January 2011.

Gross margin increased $2.3 million
•

Rubber compounding gross margin increased by $3.0 million; primarily on increased volumes and related improved absorption of costs.

•

AEP margins decreased $0.7 million related to sales volumes.

Operating expenses increased by $0.4 million
•

AEP increased by $0.1 million representing higher selling costs.

•

Unallocated corporate costs increased $0.2 million for stock option grants and $0.1 million for various expenses.

Foreign exchange, interest and other income decreased by $0.2 million
•

Compounding recovered $0.2 million of other provisions as the contractual obligation was eliminated. Exchange gains decreased
$0.1 million.

•

AEP $0.2 million exchange loss in 2010 compared to $0.4 million gain on forward contracts and $0.5 million legal costs recognized
in 2009.

•

Unallocated corporate costs in 2009 included $0.2 million from foreign exchange gains on translating working capital and debt
denominated in USD.

Items impacting comparability of quarters
•

The first and second quarters of 2009 were impacted by lower margins in Rubber Compounding attributable to higher raw material costs
not recovered from customers.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Cash flows from continuing operations
AirBoss generated $23 million in operating cash flow before changes in working capital, an increase of $13 million over 2009 from $6.8 million
higher net income and the impact of non-cash items such as future income taxes and unrealized foreign exchange losses.
Non-cash working capital
The investment in non-cash working capital relating to continuing operations increased by $2.1 million in 2010 as follows:
Provided by (used in):
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Income taxes payable
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2010

2009

(2,159)
(1,086)
(1,312)
1,406
1,013

3,933
19,567
(111)
(3,032)
(1,637)

(2,138)

18,720

2010
MD&A (cont’d)

Accounts receivable increased by $2.2 million due to:
•

Rubber Compounding accounts receivable increased $6.7 million due to higher sales.

•

AEP accounts receivables decreased $4.5 million due to timing of shipment and translation of US dollar sales.

Prepaid expenses increased by $0.9 million relating to prepayment of inventory in transit and $0.4 million from a deposit on mixing equipment.
Inventories increased by $1.1 million due to:
•

The rubber compounding segment inventory levels increased by $2.1 million due to price increases in key raw materials, however days
inventory on hand decreased as a result of customer supplied materials relating to tolling volumes, consignment inventory and customer
supplied raw materials relating to a co-purchase arrangement.

•

AEP’s inventory decreased by $1 million.

Accounts payable increased by $1.4 million due to:
•

Rubber Compounding payables increased by $2.8 due to timing of inventory receipts versus settlement.

•

AEP payables decreased by $1.4 relating to higher legal and royalty expense accruals in 2009.

Taxes payable had increased by $1 million during 2010. The Company has paid $5.6 million toward 2009 taxes and current installments,
recovered $2.3 million relating to a previous year and accrued $4.3 million relating to the current year’s expense.
Capital expenditures
Capital expenditures were $4.2 million (2009: $5.4 million). Capital expenditures in 2010 were primarily directed towards maintaining capacity
of which, $0.5 million related to the buildings, $2.4 million for manufacturing equipment and $1.0 million relating to various projects in progress
at the end of the year.
In 2009, the Rubber Compounding division spent $1.6 million to replace certain equipment in North Carolina, $0.3 million on infrastructure and
$0.3 million on miscellaneous manufacturing equipment. AEP invested a total of $3.5 million including $1.5 million on equipment and leasehold
improvements for the new AirBoss-Defense manufacturing facility in Vermont and $0.7 million for equipment in the existing facility in Kitchener.
$1.3 million was also invested, primarily in equipment for the Québec CBRN over-boot and Industrial division facility.
Other assets
Software development costs of $0.3 million were capitalized in 2010, primarily in AEP.
The net change in other assets during 2009 was impacted by the collection of $3.3 million of restricted funds, and the net $1.4 million increase
in the carrying value of forward contracts. Compounding spent $0.4 million on new software modules and AEP spent $0.2 million relating to
software development for Defense products.
Financing
No modifications to the term loan facility were negotiated in 2010 and the operating line facility was renewed for 1 year. $13.8 million of the
term debt matures October 2011 and the Company is reviewing its financing alternatives including utilization of its currently unused operating
lines of credit. In the absence of increased working capital requirements due to commodity inflation, the Company expects to generate cash
flows from operations in 2011 which exceed the $23 million generated in 2010.
The required principal payments of $1.3 million (2009: $1.4 million) were made pursuant to the loan agreement.
During 2010, the Company continued to manage its receivables and inventory levels and had no net drawings against its operating line.
Cash on hand before outstanding cheques was $15.5 million (2009 – $5.2 million). The unused line of credit is $35 million.
The Company expects to fund its 2011 operating cash requirements, including required working capital investments, capital expenditures,
and scheduled debt repayments from cash on hand, cash flow from operations and committed borrowing capacity.
Commitments and contractual obligations
The Company’s contractual obligations as at December 31, 2010 are summarized below.
Payments Due In
Total

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

Thereafter

Term loan and other debt
Operating leases
Purchase obligations

23,784
1,387
4,583

13,895
574
4,583

667
457
-

667
238
-

667
118
-

7,888
-

-

Total

29,754

19,052

1,124

905

785

7,888

-

In the normal course of business, the Rubber Compounding Division signed lease commitments in the second quarter of 2010 to replace
forklift and office equipment. As well, the Company has inventory purchase commitments in 2011 for its AEP and compounding business
segments of $0.8 million and $3.8 million respectively.
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MD&A (cont’d)

Forward exchange contracts
There were no forward contracts outstanding as of December 31, 2010.
At December 31, 2009, the Company had contracts to sell US $30.5 million between January and November 2010 for CAD $33.4 million and
contracts to sell GBP £1.0 million between January and May 2010 for CAD $1.7 million.
The carrying value of these contracts was recorded on the balance sheet included in “other assets” and foreign exchange gains and losses
were recorded on the income statement as “foreign exchange gain (loss) when there were balances outstanding.”
Government assistance
AirBoss-Defense received US $109,000 of federal grants in 2010 related to employee training and labour incentives in Vermont.
The rubber compounding division received $59,000 under an electricity retrofit program in 2010. In 2009, the rubber compounding division
received a $50,000 provincial government grant to offset the cost of certain capital projects. AEP received $250,000 ($104,000 in 2009) from
Hydro Québec to assist with energy conservation projects. The capital costs were adjusted accordingly.
AEP also received $182,000 in 2009 to further develop and improve certain intellectual property under an agreement with Defence Research
and Development Canada. No amounts were received in 2010. The grants have been recorded as a cost recovery.
Investment tax credits of $458,000 million were recognized in 2010, recorded as a reduction of R&D department costs.
Dividends
A $0.03 per share quarterly dividend was declared in November 2010 and paid January 20, 2011. Dividends declared in 2010 were $0.11 per
common share compared to $0.065 per common share in 2009.
Outstanding shares
As at March 23, 2011, the Company had 23,613,020 common shares outstanding.
TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
The Company rents corporate office space from a company controlled by the Chairman of the Company. This lease provides for an annual
rental of $90,000 payable monthly and expires in August 2012. The lease provides for the purchase of the building should certain events
occur which are beyond the control of the Chairman. The annual rental of $90,000 approximated the fair market rental at the inception of the
lease in 2002.
During the year, the Company paid annual dues relating to a facility in South Carolina of approximately $19,800 ($21,800 in 2009) to a
company in which the Chairman is an officer.
In 2009, the Company renewed a $0.1 million share purchase loan to an employee, due December 2, 2011 bearing interest at 2 ½% annually
with full recourse and is included in the financial statements under the caption “other assets”, and 30,000 shares of the Company having a
fair value of $0.2 million were pledged as collateral.
NEW ACCOUNTING POLICIES
International Financial Reporting Standards
On February 13, 2008, the Canadian Accounting Standards Board confirmed that International Financial Reporting Standards will replace
Canada's current generally accepted accounting principles for publicly accountable profit-oriented enterprises for interim and annual financial
statements effective January 1, 2011, with a restatement of 2010.
We have implemented an IFRS changeover plan and the key elements included:
1) Scoping and diagnostic
• High level analysis to:
• Assess differences between IFRS and GAAP
• Identify elective and mandatory exceptions available under IFRS 1
• Scope out potential impacts on systems and processes
• Identify impacts on business relationships including contractual arrangements
2) Impact analysis, evaluation and design
• Determine projected impact of adopting IFRS on financial statements and develop accounting processes
• Develop and finalize changes to systems and internal controls
• Address business activities including contractual arrangements, hedging, compensation arrangements, budgeting/forecasting
• Prepare reporting templates and training plan
3) Implementation and Review
• Collect and compile IFRS information for reporting
• Train staff
• Execute changes to information systems and business activities
• Communicate
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When the Company completed its scoping and diagnostic phase, areas that could have a potential impact were identified and included
capital assets, foreign currency translation and employee future benefits with corresponding adjustments to taxes. Most of the adjustments
required on the transition to IFRS will be made retrospectively against opening retained earnings as of the date of the first comparative
balance sheet presented.
Certain modifications to its ERP system have been implemented and tested to address US functional and reporting currencies. In effect, dual
currency reporting is available as of January 1, 2010 for its Canadian domiciled businesses. Canadian denominated transactions have been
translated into US. The restatement of capital assets and depreciation expense will be contained within the system.
Financial statement reporting templates have been developed to remap financial statements and support the required disclosure and efforts
are underway to complete the reconciliations and comparative IFRS statements. Training has been provided to the finance team, management
and its Board of Directors. Restating 2010 depreciation expenses and corresponding future income tax adjustments are currently underway.
The Company will issue its financial statements in the first quarter of 2011 in accordance with IFRS including comparative data for 2010.
IFRS Adoption
The following is provided in connection with our expected adoption of IFRS in 2011 reflecting adjustments to the 2010 comparative balances.
Initial elections upon adoption
The adoption of IFRS requires the application of IFRS1 First Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS1”) which
provides guidelines for a company’s initial adoption of IFRS. IFRS1 generally requires that a company apply all IFRS effective at the end of its
first IFRS reporting period retrospectively. However, IFRS1 sets out mandatory exceptions and limited optional exemptions in specified areas of
certain standards from this general requirement. Set forth below are the IFRS1 elections we have made to convert our Canadian GAAP results
to IFRS.
Business Combinations
IFRS 1 allows us to apply this standard on a prospective or retroactive basis. The Company has elected to apply IFRS 3 on a prospective
basis for business combinations completed after January 1, 2010.
Property, Plant and Equipment fair value as deemed cost
IFRS 1 provides a choice between measuring property, plant and equipment at its fair value at the date of transition and using those amounts
as deemed cost or using the historical cost adjusted to comply with IFRS. The Company will elect to restate property, plant and equipment, where
practical, to fair value as deemed cost under IFRS at the transition date. The Company anticipates a write-down of $7.5 million and an
adjustment to future income taxes of $2.8 million.
Share-based payments
A first time adopter is encouraged but not required to apply IFRS 2 Share-Based Payments to equity instruments that were granted on or
before November 7, 2002, or equity instruments that were granted subsequent to November 7, 2002 and vested before the later of the date
of transition to IFRS and January 1, 2005. The Company has elected not to apply IFRS2 to awards that vested prior to January 1, 2010 –
these have been accounted for in accordance with Canadian GAAP.
Expected Transitional Adjustments
The adoption of IFRS does not impact the overall performance and underlying trends of our operations, however the change in the functional
currency will reduce volatility of US denominated gross margin and increase volatility of CAD denominated operating expenses. The following
draft reconciliations present the expected differences between Canadian GAAP and IFRS for our opening balance sheet at January 1, 2010.
Preliminary Consolidated Balance Sheet
January 1, 2010
IFRS Adjustments

($ thousands)

Canadian GAAP
Accounts

Note

Canadian
GAAP
(CAD)

Functional
Currency
(USD)

Mandatory
(USD)

Elective
(USD)

IFRS
(USD)

Assets
Total current assets
Total capital assets
Other long term assets
Goodwill

1
1, 2
1
1

65,621
53,526
8,423
7,182

(3,335)
(3,438)
(406)
(348)

69
-

(7,498)
-

62,286
42,590
8,086
6,834

134,752

(7,527)

69

(7,498)

119,796

1
1
1, 2, 3

29,278
23,968
11,513

(1,476)
(1,163)
(700)

68

(2,782)

27,802
22,805
8,099

64,759

(3,339)

-

2, 3

69,993

(4,188)

1

(4,716)

61,090

134,752

(7,527)

69

(7,498)

119,796

Total assets
Liabilities
Total current liabilities
Long term debt
Other long term liabilities
Total liabilities
Total shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

-

58,706

The transition to IFRS is not expected to significantly impact its material covenants.
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Notes:
1) Functional Currency
Primary and secondary indicators under IFRS suggest the Company’s functional currency is US dollars. Generally, the currency selling prices
are determined, denominated, and settled in USD. US competitive forces and regulations determine pricing as most customers and
competitors operate in the US dollar. Foreign sourced commodities traded in USD accounts for most of the costs incurred, despite much of
the labour and other expenses being denominated in CAD. The Company is able to raise financing in USD. Strategically, further expansion
will likely be in the US. Canadian GAAP requires a triggering event to justify a change in its functional currency – the transition to US currency
was gradual and there was no single triggering event. The Company plans to also report its financial statements in US dollars in order to
reduce potential distortions in the results from translating its US functional statements back into Canadian funds. There are three important
impacts to highlight. Firstly, most numbers reported in 2010 will be reduced as a result of the relatively weaker Canadian dollar. Secondly, the
effect of currency risk mitigation efforts that did not meet the criteria for hedge accounting should result in a correction of gross margin and
exchange gains and losses. Thirdly, going forward, the Company will focus its efforts to mitigate currency risks related to Canadian dollar
transactions such as Canadian salaries and wages, overheads, interest, taxes and dividends.
2) Fair value as deemed cost
IFRS 1 provides a choice between measuring property, plant and equipment at its fair value at the date of transition and using those amounts
as deemed cost or using the historical IFRS compliant cost. We will elect to restate property, plant and equipment, where practical, to fair
value as deemed cost under IFRS at the transition date.
Appraisals were obtained to assess the fair value of land, building, and manufacturing equipment to be used as deemed cost at the date of
transition to IFRS. Most of the manufacturing equipment was acquired in US dollars at a time when the Canadian dollar was substantially
weaker than at January 1, 2010. In addition, weakened economic conditions impacted the market value of property and equipment. These
factors contributed to a revaluation in deemed cost on transition to IFRS totaling $7.5 million, however no impairment charge was required
under Canadian GAAP as there was no trigger for impairment testing. In addition, future income tax liabilities will require an adjustment to
reflect the re-measurement of capital assets.
3) Employee benefits
IAS 19, Employee Benefits, allows certain actuarial gains and losses to be either deferred and amortized, subject to certain provisions
(corridor approach), or immediately recognized through equity.
Retrospective application of the corridor approach for recognition of actuarial gains and losses in accordance with IAS 19 would require us to
determine actuarial gains and losses from the date the benefit plans were established in accordance with IFRS. The Company will elect to
recognize all cumulative actuarial gains and losses that existed at the transition date in retained earnings and future actuarial gains and
losses through other comprehensive income for all employee benefit plans. The Company’s pension expense may be lower under IFRS as
actuarial gains and losses will no longer be amortized and the financing component will be reflected as an interest cost.
4) Income taxes
IAS 12 requires that future income taxes be recognized on foreign exchange differences where the currency of the tax basis on non-monetary
assets and liabilities differs from the functional currency. This was treated as a permanent difference under Canadian GAAP and results in a
mandatory adjustment of $0.1 million to both future income tax assets and liabilities.
As described above, a re-measurement of capital assets and employee benefits reduced future income tax liabilities by $2.8 million on
adopting IFRS.
5) Share-based payments
IFRS 2, share based payments, requires re-measurement of stock options as each tranche vests and encourages application of its
provisions to equity instruments granted on or before November 7, 2002 but permits the application only to equity instruments granted after
November 7, 2002 that have not vested by the transition date.
The Company will not apply IFRS 2 to equity instruments granted after November 7, 2002 that vested before January 1, 2010.
Discussion of differences
(a) Business Combinations
Acquisition cost:
Canadian GAAP – Shares issued as consideration measured at average market price before and after the parties reach an agreement
and announce the proposed transaction.
IFRS – Adjustments related to the finalization of the initial purchase price allocations are accounted for retrospectively to the acquisition
date, with restatement of prior periods to reflect the final purchase price allocation and any changes in amortization that may be required.
Implication – No anticipated impact on adoption.
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(b) Employee benefits
Measurement date
Canadian GAAP – The measurement date of plan assets and defined benefit obligations may be up to three months prior to the financial
statements.
IFRS – The choice of a measurement date must not result in a materially different outcome than if the statement of financial position date
was used.
Implication – No anticipated impact as the valuation date is the financial date.
Past service cost
Canadian GAAP – Amortize amendments on a straight line basis over the expected average remaining service life of active employees.
IFRS – Amortize amendments on a straight line basis over the vesting period of active employees and recognize past service costs of
vested benefits immediately.
Implication – No anticipated impact as the plan has vested.
Actuarial gains and losses
Canadian GAAP – Unrecognized actuarial gains and losses are deferred and amortized over the estimated average remaining service
life of active employees.
IFRS – The Company has elected to recognize actuarial gains and losses through comprehensive income.
Implication – Pension expense may be lower as actuarial gains and losses are charged to comprehensive income
Interest
Canadian GAAP – The financing element is included with the pension expense.
IFRS – May elect to include the financing element with the pension expense or include the financing element in interest expense.
Implication – Pension expense may be lower and interest expense may be higher as a result of the reclassification of the financing cost
component to “interest expense”.
(c) Stock based compensation
Recognition of expense on equity settled plans
Canadian GAAP – Recognize fair value of stock based award on a straight line basis over the vesting period.
IFRS – Each tranche of an award is considered a separate grant, with a different fair value
Implication – No anticipated material impact on adoption of IFRS.
Forfeiture
Canadian GAAP – Recognize as it occurs.
IFRS – Estimate forfeiture and record in the current period to be revised for actual experience in subsequent periods.
Implication – No anticipated impact as the actual forfeiture experience has been low.
(d) Impairments
Long-lived assets
Canadian GAAP – Canadian GAAP uses a two-step approach to impairment testing (i) compare asset values with undiscounted cashflows to assess whether impairment has occurred, and (ii) measure any impairment by comparing carrying value to fair value.
IFRS – IAS 36 Impairment of assets uses a one-step approach for testing and measuring impairment. Carrying values are compared with
the higher of (i) fair value less cost to sell, and (ii) value in use reflecting discounted cash-flows.
Implication – This may result in more write-downs under IFRS from applying discounted as opposed to undiscounted cash-flows and
subsequent write-ups when the conditions of impairment change.
(e) Provisions
Canadian GAAP – Accounts payable, accrued liabilities and provisions are combined and disclosed on the balance sheet as a single item.
IFRS – Provisions are required to be disclosed separately from liabilities and accrued liabilities.
Implication – Certain provisions, such as asset retirement obligations, will be disclosed separately.
(f) Statement of Cash-flows
Canadian GAAP – May use the direct or indirect method.
IFRS – May use the direct or indirect method. Dividends paid, interest paid/received or dividends paid/received may be presented as
either operating or financing activities.
Implication – No anticipated impact as the Company will continue to use the indirect method.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
The Company’s preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. The Company’s estimates are based upon historical experience and on various other
assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The results of the Company’s ongoing evaluation of these
estimates form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities and the reported amounts for revenues and
expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions. These estimates and assumptions are affected by
management’s application of accounting policies. The Company’s critical accounting policies are those that affect our Consolidated
Financial Statements materially and involve a significant level of judgment by the Company. A summary of the significant accounting policies,
including critical accounting policies, is set forth in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. The Company’s critical accounting
estimates include valuation of accounts receivable and inventory, accounting for the impairment of long-lived assets, valuation of goodwill
and other debt, and accounting for income taxes.
Valuation of Accounts receivable
The bad debt provision was decreased by $0.5 million to reflect the collection of certain accounts receivable provided for in 2009.
No material bad debt provisions were required in 2010.
Valuation of inventory
The majority of the Company’s products are manufactured against orders, and inventory on hand is primarily raw materials or finished goods
awaiting shipment or customer release.
A provision for obsolete inventory is established based on materials on hand that can no longer be used for customer orders based on a
review of historical and forecasted sales as well as a technical review to see if such materials can be reworked.
Management reviews the carrying cost of its inventory to ensure it is measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value by examining
current replacement cost, and the quoted pricing to customers over the estimated time frame to consume the inventory on hand and
irrevocable commitments.
The Company’s provision for obsolete inventory and the write-down of inventory to net realizable value may require an adjustment should any
of the above factors change.
No impairment charge was required in 2010. Approximately $4.3 million of inventory was written down in 2009.
Impairment of Long-lived Assets
The Company reviews and evaluates our long-lived assets for impairment when events or changes in economic and other circumstances
indicate that the carrying value of such assets may not be fully recoverable. The net recoverable value of an asset is calculated by estimating
undiscounted future net cash flows from the asset together with the asset’s residual value. Future net cash flows are developed using
assumptions that reflect the planned course of action for an asset given our best estimate of the most probable set of economic conditions.
Inherent in these assumptions are significant risks and uncertainties. In the view of management, there are no indicators of impairment based
on assumptions which they believe to be reasonable, and no impairment charge was recorded in 2009 and 2010.
Valuation of Goodwill
The Company reviews and evaluates our goodwill for impairment when an indicator of impairment exists in the underlying reporting units, but at
least on an annual basis. In determining whether impairment has occurred in one of the Company’s reporting units, management compares the
reporting unit’s carrying value to its fair value. Management determines the fair value of the Company’s reporting units on a combination of an
EBIT multiple approach and market approach. Determination of fair value is based on a number of assumptions arising from the most current
financial performance of each reporting unit, the upcoming annual budget for each reporting unit and the historical variability of earnings. Other
factors, such as any foreign exchange volatility and volatility in world markets for rubber and carbon black can also materially alter our
expectations. Accordingly, management’s judgement is required to determine whether these factors at any one point in time, and in light of
business initiatives, suggest a major change, positive or negative, to the prospects of the business and, therefore, to the valuation of goodwill.
No impairment charge was required in 2009 or 2010.
Accounting for Income Taxes
The provision for income taxes is calculated based on the expected tax treatment of transactions recorded in the Consolidated Financial
Statements. The objectives of accounting for income taxes are to recognize the amount of taxes payable or refundable for the current year and
future tax liabilities and assets for the future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in the Consolidated Financial Statements
or tax returns. In determining both the current and future components of income taxes, the Company interprets tax legislation in a variety of
jurisdictions as well as makes assumptions about the expected timing of the reversal of future tax assets and liabilities and valuation
allowances are based on a “more likely than not” criteria. If its interpretations differ from those of tax authorities or if the timing of reversals is
not as anticipated, the provision or relief for income taxes could increase or decrease in future periods. Additional information regarding our
accounting for income taxes is contained in Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. No valuation allowance has been recorded
relating to loss carry-forward amounts as management believes it is more likely than not that these will be used before expiration.
Other Debt
Management evaluates its best estimate of the amount of environmental costs recoverable under the terms of an agreement at each reporting date.
Subsequent to year end, the Company was notified that the superior court rendered a judgement in its favour allowing the parties to offset their
respective claims. An appeal may be made within 30 days of the date of the judgement; the Company is not aware that an appeal was made as of
March 23, 2011.
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RISK FACTORS
Competition
The Company competes directly against major North American companies in the custom rubber compounding, and industrial rubber product
market segments. Some of these companies have strong established competitive positions in these markets. In the case of rubber
compounding, the industry leader may have greater resources, both financial and technical, than the Company and has long-standing
relationships with some of the Company’s prospective customers using well-established marketing and distribution networks. Furthermore,
since there is a commodity-like element to certain segments of the Company’s rubber mixing business, the customers of this business are
price sensitive and may be able to purchase their requirements elsewhere in a relatively short period of time. The Company’s AirBoss-Defense
division competes with international companies who may also have greater financial resources or who may be sheltered by domestic tariffs.
Impact of Economic Cycle
The demand for the Company’s products can vary in accordance with general economic cycles and the economic conditions of the industry
sectors that are served by the Company. In addition, such industry sectors are cyclical in nature. The Company is particularly sensitive to
trends in the tire, energy generation, construction, mining, and transportation industries because these industries are significant markets for
the Company’s business and are highly cyclical. In a severe economic slowdown, prices for coal, copper and other mined materials may fall
affecting demand for conveyor belting, off-road retread tires and other rubber products manufactured by our customers out of rubber
compounds manufactured by AirBoss.
Raw Materials and Inventory
The Company depends on certain outside sources for raw materials used in the production of its products, the price and availability of which
are subject to market conditions. As a result, any unforeseen shortage of such raw materials could delay delivery, increase costs and
decrease profitability. This occurred in 2008 and appears to be recurring in 2011 as the world-wide production of key materials such as
synthetic rubber and carbon black did not keep up with demand. The Company was not subject to shortages in 2008 as it maintains supply
sources in different areas of the world. This cannot be relied upon to avoid shortages in every potential situation.
Raw material markets have been extremely volatile with key materials doubling or halving in price within a short period. Excess inventory or
shortages could prove costly to the Company in these markets.
The Company does not have long-term supply contracts with its suppliers and purchases most raw materials on a purchase order basis. The
price of many raw materials, such as carbon black and synthetic rubber, is directly or indirectly affected by factors such as exchange rates
and the price of oil. Although the Company attempts to pass price changes in raw materials on to its customers, it may not always be able to
adjust its prices, especially in the short-term, to recover the costs of increased raw material prices. Conversely if raw material prices decrease
significantly and rapidly, the Company may be at risk to recover the cost of any inventory purchased based on demand at higher prices.
The following table approximates the financial impact (assuming changes are not passed along to its customers) on the Company of a 10%
increase in the cost of its most critical raw materials based upon purchases made in 2010:
$ Millions
Increase (decrease)

Earnings before tax

Natural & synthetic rubber
Carbon black

(6.2)
(1.8)

Weather
The Company manufactures rubber compounds used extensively in snowmobile tread manufacture. The annual sales of these compounds
depend upon snowmobile sales, which in turn are affected by weather conditions. Accordingly, warm weather could have a negative impact
on the sales to these companies.
Product Liability and Warranty Claims
As a manufacturer of rubber-based products, the Company faces a risk of product liability and warranty claims. Although the Company
carries commercial general liability insurance in an amount considered reasonable by industry standards, any claim which is successful and
is not covered by insurance or which exceeds the policy limit could have an adverse affect on the Company. Warranty claims have not been
material and are within industry standard expectations.
Dependence on Key Customers and Contracts
From time to time, a significant portion of the Company’s sales for a given period may be represented by a small number of customers. One
customer represents 17.8% (2009 – 20.9%) of total sales. Five customers represented 51.9% of sales in 2010 (2009 – 58%). The loss of any
such customers or the delay or cancellation of any orders under certain high-volume contracts could have a significant impact on the
Company.
Capacity and Equipment
The rubber compounding facilities have an annual capacity to produce approximately 230 million pounds at the current product mix.
The Company remains committed to continuous maintenance and upgrading of its equipment. Critical equipment remains not only in a high
state of repair, but is also technologically up to date so that the Company is able to ensure the reliability of supply at competitive prices and at
a high quality standard.
The Company has also made investments in capacity and efficiency in its Acton operations. In recent years, the Company purchased moulds and
injection equipment and established a production facility in Vermont to enhance its presence in protective products such as CBRN protective
gloves, defense footwear and gas masks.
Should additional equipment be required to fulfill any substantial increases in sales, it can be readily sourced in the market.
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Currency Exposure
The Company has revenues and expenses denominated in both Canadian and US dollars. In addition, the cost to the Company of certain
key raw materials and other expense items and the competitiveness of prices charged by the Company for its products will be indirectly
affected by currency fluctuations. Changes in the value of the Canadian dollar relative to the US dollar could have a material positive or
adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations. This was particularly evident in 2007 as well as in 2003 and 2004.
The Company reviews its currency exposure positions from time to time and reacts accordingly by increasing or decreasing the proportion of
operating or term loan denominated in US funds as a natural balance sheet hedge or establish forward contracts to sell US funds to manage
its foreign exchange risk related to cash-flow. However, there is no assurance that such strategies will be successful or cost effective, and the
profitability of the Company’s business could be adversely affected by currency fluctuations. The following table approximates the following
impact on the Company of a $0.10 decrease in the value of one US dollar in Canadian currency (million):
$ Millions
Increase (decrease)

Sales (1)
Purchases (2)

Earnings before tax
(20.0)
15.1

(1) Based upon US dollar-denominated sales in 2010
(2) Based upon combined 2010 purchases and expenses

Environmental
The Company handles various chemicals and oils in its manufacturing process, the nature of which may expose it to risks of causing or
being deemed to have caused environmental or other damages. While its use of potentially hazardous materials is limited the Company
ensures that its operations are conducted in a manner that minimizes such risks and maintains insurance coverage considered reasonable
by management. To date, no regulatory authority has required the Company to pay any material fines or remediation expenses in connection
with any alleged violation of environmental regulation. However, there can be no assurance that future environmental damage will not occur
or that environmental damage due to prior or present practices will not result in future liabilities. The Company is subject to environmental
regulation by federal, provincial, state and local authorities. While management believes that the Company is in substantial compliance with
all material government requirements relating to environmental controls on its operation, changes in such government laws and regulations
are ongoing and may make environmental compliance increasingly expensive. It is not possible to predict future costs, which may be
incurred to meet environment obligations.
The Company’s remediation of pre-existing contamination at Acton-Vale, Québec was completed at the beginning of 2006. Under the terms
of the 1999 purchase agreement, cleanup costs are to be borne by the vendors. Accordingly, the Company does not anticipate any material
financial impact from remediation efforts, however may be exposed to costs recovered pursuant to a purchase and sale agreement
described below.
During 2008, the Company implemented measures to remediate the cause of an odour complaint in its Kitchener facility and monitor levels
through a program of odour sampling. Based upon its efforts to date and investigations conducted by qualified external environmental
professionals, the Company believes that no significant environmental exposure exists and that the costs to remediate the areas of ongoing
concern will not significantly impact the financial resources of the Company. The Company has secured liability insurance coverage for
environmental issues which the Company believes to be appropriate for the nature of its operations.
Litigation
In 2004, the Company commenced an Action in the Superior Court of Québec claiming funds due pursuant to the 1999 Agreement of
Purchase and Sale whereby AirBoss acquired the assets of Acton International Inc. Part of the claim was settled pursuant to the filing in May
2007 of a Declaration of Settlement with one of the defendants for substantially the full amount of their 32% share of the Company’s claims.
The remaining claims amounted to $2.4 million plus accrued interest and were recorded as an offset to long-term debt owed to the vendors.
The trial in this matter took place before the Superior Court of Montreal in May and June 2010. Subsequent to year end, the Company was
notified that the superior court rendered a judgement in its favour allowing the parties to offset their respective claims. An appeal may be
made within 30 days of the date of the judgement; the Company is not aware that an appeal was made as of March 23, 2011. The potential
financial impact has not yet been determined.
DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
As of the end of the fiscal year of AirBoss of America Corp. (the “Issuer”), an evaluation was carried out under the supervision of and with the
participation of the Issuer’s management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures. Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the
design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2010, the end of the period covered by
management’s discussion and analysis, to ensure that material information relating to the Issuer and its consolidated subsidiaries would be
made known to them by officers within those entities.
The Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer and its Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer are responsible for
establishing and maintaining the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures. The Disclosure Committee, composed of senior managers
of the Company, assists the CEO and CFO in evaluating the information and appropriateness of material subject to public disclosure.
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CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTROLS OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
During the most recent period, there have been no changes in the Company’s policies and procedures and other processes that comprise
its internal control over financial reporting, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting.
INTERNAL CONTROLS OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
Management has designed internal controls over financial reporting (“ICFR”) to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of the
Company’s financial reporting and its compliance with GAAP in its consolidated financial statements. The President and CEO and the VicePresident and CFO have supervised management in the evaluation of the design and effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls over
financial reporting as at December 31, 2010 and believe the design and effectiveness of the internal controls to be sufficient to provide such
reasonable assurance.
OUTLOOK
The strong financial performance of the first three quarters continued during the fourth quarter driven primarily by increased volumes and
capacity utilization in the Rubber Compounding business and strong demand for AirBoss-Defense CBRN protective wear. We expect this to
continue into 2011.
Rubber Compounding volumes are expected to be particularly strong in the first and fourth quarters of 2011 which mirror major tire company
requirement forecasts. Volumes will be as much as 30% higher than in 2010 during these periods. Sales prices will increase due to significant
raw material price increases. Price increases have been accepted throughout the market as manufacturers take steps to secure supply of
materials that are becoming increasingly difficult to source. A new sales and compound development operation is planned for North Carolina
to support the increased sales levels and it should be operational in the second quarter of 2011.
AirBoss-Defense continues to enjoy a high degree of visibility; by the end of February orders had been received for approximately two thirds
of the division’s annual sales budget for 2011. Our commitment to the development of products in partnership with government, the
academic community and business affiliates will increase in 2011 and we expect to have a new dedicated development site in operation in
the second half of the year.
The financial condition of the Company continues to be strong with an excellent working capital position and substantial unused borrowing
capacity. We continue to pursue opportunities to broaden the scope of AirBoss in personal protection products through both acquisition and
product development.
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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting
The accompanying consolidated financial statements of AirBoss of America Corp. and all the information in the annual report are the
responsibility of management, and have been approved by the Board of Directors. The financial statements have been prepared by
management, in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. When alternate accounting methods exist,
management has chosen those it deems most appropriate in the circumstances. Financial statements are not precise since they include
certain amounts based on estimates and judgments. Management has determined such amounts on a reasonable basis in order to ensure
that the financial statements are presented fairly, in all material respects. Management has prepared the financial information presented in this
annual report and has ensured that it is consistent with that presented in the financial statements.
AirBoss of America Corp. maintains systems of internal accounting and administrative controls consistent with reasonable cost. Such systems
are designed to provide reasonable assurance that the financial information is relevant, reliable and accurate and the Company’s assets are
appropriately accounted for and adequately safeguarded.
The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfils its responsibilities for reviewing and approving the financial
statements. The Board carries out this responsibility principally through its Audit Committee.
The Audit Committee is appointed by the Board and all members are outside directors. The Committee meets periodically with management, as well
as the external auditors, to discuss internal controls over the financial reporting process, auditing matters and financial reporting issues, to satisfy itself
that each party is properly discharging its responsibilities, and to review the annual report, the financial statements and the external auditors’ report.
The Committee reports its findings to the Board for consideration when approving the financial statements for issuance to the shareholders. The
Committee also considers the engagement or re-appointment of the external auditors for review by the Board and approval by the shareholders.
KPMG LLP, the Company’s external auditors, who are appointed by the shareholders, audited the consolidated financial statements as of and
for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards to enable them to
express to the shareholders their opinion on the consolidated financial statements. KPMG LLP has full and free access to the Audit Committee.
March 23, 2011

R.L. Hagerman

S.W. Richards

President and Chief Executive Officer

Vice-President Finance and CFO

Independent Auditors' Report
To the Shareholders
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of AirBoss of America Corp.( “the Entity”), which comprise the consolidated
balance sheets as at December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009, the consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income,
shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.
Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted accounting principles, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor's Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the Entity’s preparation
and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of AirBoss of
America Corp. as at December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009, and its consolidated results of operations and its consolidated cash flows
for the years then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Chartered Accountants, Licenced Public Accountants
Toronto, Canada, March 23, 2011
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
(thousands $ CDN)
As at December 31

2010

2009

Current assets:
Cash
Accounts receivable (Note 2)
Inventories (Note 3)
Prepaid expenses

13,226
30,090
34,368
2,060

2,875
27,931
33,282
748

Total current assets

79,744

64,836

Capital assets (Note 4)
Goodwill (Note 5)
Future income tax assets (Note 11)
Other assets (Note 6)

52,714
7,182
3,010
1,392

53,496
7,182
5,666
2,787

144,042

133,967

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Income taxes payable
Dividends payable
Current portion of term loan and other debt (Note 8)

26,675
1,879
708
13,895

25,269
866
956
1,402

Total current liabilities

43,157

28,493

9,805
9,097
2,710

23,968
8,955
2,558

64,769

63,974

40,558
1,767
36,948

40,962
1,584
27,447

ASSETS

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Term loan and other debt (Note 8)
Future income tax liabilities (Note 11)
Accrued post retirement benefit liability (Note 13)
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)

Shareholders’ equity:
Share capital (Note 9)
Contributed surplus (Note 9)
Retained earnings
Total shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

79,273

69,993

144,042

133,967

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

On behalf of the Board

Robert L. Hagerman
Director
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Director
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Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income
(thousands $ CDN, except per share amounts)
For the year ended December 31

2010

2009

NET SALES
Cost of sales
Loss on disposal

240,447
204,922
-

209,921
188,070
412

Total cost of sales

204,922

188,482

35,525

21,439

8,685
4,718
379

8,842
3,981
987

Total operating expenses

13,782

13,810

Income before undernoted items
Other expense
Foreign exchange gain
Interest expense (Note 7 and 8)

21,743
(307)
186
(1,490)

7,629
(325)
3,427
(1,736)

Interest, foreign exchange and other income (expense)

(1,611)

1,366

Income before income taxes
Provision for income taxes (Note 11)

20,132
7,081

8,995
2,719

Net income and comprehensive Income

13,051

6,276

0.55
0.54

0.26
0.26

Gross margin

OPERATING EXPENSES
General and administrative
Selling and marketing
Product research

Net income from operations per share (Note 10)
Basic
Diluted
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow
(thousands $ CDN)
For the year ended December 31

2010

2009

13,051

6,276

5,355
2,798
1,005
819
152

5,582
44
192
(2,795)
382
291

23,180

9,972

Net change in non-cash working capital balances (Note 15)

(2,138)

18,720

Net cash provided by continuing operations
Net cash used in discontinued operations

21,042
-

28,692
(2,409)

Cash provided by operating activities

21,042

26,283

Investing Activities:
Purchase of capital assets
Decrease (increase) in other assets

(4,243)
(321)

(5,428)
2,644

Cash used in investing activities

(4,564)

(2,784)

Financing Activities:
Net decrease in demand loan
Repayment of term loan
Dividends paid
Issuance of share capital
Normal course issuer bid purchase of share capital for cancellation

(1,289)
(2,871)
(1,967)

(17,788)
(1,365)
(1,187)
91
(375)

Cash used in financing activities

(6,127)

(20,624)

Increase in cash during the period

10,351

2,875

2,875

-

Cash and short-term deposits at the end of the period

13,226

2,875

Supplementary Cash Flow Information:
Cash Interest paid
Cash income taxes remitted
Cash income taxes refunded
Trade-in proceeds

1,451
5,569
(2,666)
-

1,630
5,943
(342)
361

CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN):
Operating Activities:
Net income from continuing operations
Items not affecting cash:
Amortization
Loss on disposal of capital assets
Future income taxes
Foreign exchange (gain) loss
Stock option expense
Post-retirement benefits expense

Cash and short-term deposits at the beginning of the period

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
(thousands $ CDN)

Common shares
Number
Amount
of shares

Contributed
surplus

Retained
Earnings

Total
Shareholders’
Equity

(000’s)

Balance, December 31, 2009
Net income for the period
Dividends declared
Repurchase of common shares
Stock option expense
Exercise of stock options

40,962
(565)
161

23,899
(329)
43

1,584
(475)
819
(161)

27,447
13,051
(2,623)
(927)
-

69,993
13,051
(2,623)
(1,967)
819
-

Balance, December 31, 2010

40,558

23,613

1,767

36,948

79,273

(thousands $ CDN)

Common shares
Number
Amount
of shares

Contributed
surplus

Retained
Earnings

Total
Shareholders’
Equity

(000’s)

Balance, January 1, 2009
Net income for the period
Dividends declared
Repurchase of common shares
Stock option expense
Exercise of stock options

40,537
(283)
708

23,805
(166)
260

1,911
(92)
382
(617)

22,718
6,276
(1,547)
-

65,166
6,276
(1,547)
(375)
382
91

Balance, December 31, 2009

40,962

23,899

1,584

27,447

69,993
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009
(Tabular amounts in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)

NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles
including the following:
Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the Company, its wholly owned
subsidiaries, and its joint venture over which the Company has significant control (collectively, the “Company”). Inter-Company balances
and transactions have been eliminated upon consolidation. Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the current
year’s presentation.
Capital Assets
Capital assets are recorded at cost, net of government assistance, and are depreciated to the estimated salvage values on the following
basis over their expected useful lives:
Buildings – straight-line basis over twenty-five years.
Equipment – straight-line basis over five years to fifteen years or on a unit of production basis.
The Company reviews the carrying value of its capital assets for potential impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amount of an asset that is
held and used exceeds the projected undiscounted future net cash flows expected from its use and disposal. The loss is measured as the
amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value, which is measured by discounted cash flows or appraised value,
depending on the nature of the asset. For assets available for sale, an impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amount exceeds the
fair value less costs to sell.
Asset retirement obligation
The Company records the fair value of the liability for an asset retirement obligation in the year in which it is incurred and when a reasonable
estimate of fair value can be made.
Inventories
Inventories are recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined on a first-in, first-out basis and includes the costs to
purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.
Other Assets
Patents
The Company has capitalized the costs incurred to acquire patents. Patent costs are amortized over the life of the patent.
Product development
The Company has capitalized the costs incurred in developing the products that it plans to bring into commercial production. Product
development costs are amortized on a unit-of-production basis. All other product development and research costs are expensed as incurred.
Software
Software is recorded at cost and is depreciated over five years.
Goodwill
The Company is required to evaluate goodwill annually or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. Absent any triggering factors during the year, the Company conducts its goodwill assessment in the fourth quarter to correspond
with its measurement planning cycle. Impairment is tested at the reporting unit level by comparing the reporting unit’s carrying amount to its fair
value. The fair values of the reporting units are estimated using a combination of an EBIT (earnings before interest and taxes) multiple and market
approach. To the extent a reporting unit’s carrying amount exceeds its fair value, an impairment of goodwill exists. During the fourth quarters of 2010
and 2009, the Company performed its annual goodwill impairment test. Revenue and expense projections used in determining the fair values of the
reporting units were based on management’s estimates, including estimates of current and future industry conditions. The Company determined
there was no impairment for 2009 and 2010 as the reporting unit fair values exceeded their carrying values.
Financial Instruments
Financial instruments are classified into one of five categories: held-for-trading, held-to-maturity, loans and receivables, available for sale financial
assets or other financial liabilities.
All financial instruments, including embedded derivatives, are initially recorded on the balance sheet at fair value. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition or issuance of financial assets or liabilities are included in the respective asset or liability’s carrying value at
its inception.
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Notes to CFS (cont’d)

The Company has designated:
•
•
•

Foreign exchange contracts as held-for-trading
Accounts receivable, note receivables and restricted funds as loans and receivables
Accounts payable, demand loan and term debt as other financial liabilities

The Company does not have any available for sale or held-to-maturity investments at year ended December 31, 2010 and 2009. Foreign exchange
contracts have not been designated for hedge accounting.
Revenue Recognition
Revenue from the sale of manufactured products is recognized when measurable, upon shipment to or receipt by customers (depending on
contractual terms).
Revenue and cost of sales are presented on a gross basis in the consolidated statements of income when the Company is acting as principal and
is subject to the significant risks and rewards of the transaction. Where the Company receives consignment inventory for processing, the tolling
charges are recorded as revenue.
Volume rebates are usually established as a percentage of sales with a commitment to a base amount, accrued on a systematic and rational
basis estimating the level of expected amounts to be paid based on past experience, and are reported as a reduction of gross revenue.
Foreign Currency Translation
The accounts of the Company’s wholly owned subsidiaries are classified as integrated and have been translated using the temporal method,
which translates monetary items at the rate of exchange in effect at the balance sheet date and non-monetary items at historical rates.
Revenue and expense items are translated at the rate of exchange in effect on the dates they occur. Exchange gains and losses arising on
translation of foreign currency are included in current operations.
Income Taxes
Future income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future income tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial
statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Future income tax assets and liabilities are measured
using enacted or substantively enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are
expected to be recovered or settled. A valuation allowance is recorded against any future income tax asset if it is more likely than not that the
asset will not be realized. Income tax expense or benefit is the sum of the Company’s provision for current income taxes and the difference
between opening and ending balances of future income tax assets and liabilities.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amount of revenue
and expenses during the reporting period. Significant areas requiring the use of estimates relate to rates of amortization and valuation of
capital assets and valuation of goodwill. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Post Retirement Benefits
The Company provides designated employees with defined post retirement benefits based upon their years of service. These benefits are accrued
by the Company and remain unfunded unless certain events occur. The current provision for the benefit expense includes amortization of actuarial
losses and transitional obligation over the remaining years of employment until the maximum entitlement is achieved; imputed interest on the
unfunded balance and a provision for current service. The accrued benefit liability at December 31, 2010 and the benefit expense for the year ended
December 31, 2010 were determined based on a December 31, 2010 valuation.
The Company provides certain employees with post retirement life insurance benefits under a plan that is unfunded. The current provision for the
benefit expense reflects actuarially-determined imputed interest on the unfunded balance, net of annual employer contributions, amortization of the
transitional obligation over the remaining years of employment and a provision for current service. The Company uses the “Corridor Approach” to
accrue actuarial gains or losses. The accrued benefit liability at December 31, 2010 and the benefit expense for the year ended December 31, 2010
were determined based on a January 1, 2006 valuation of the plan and an extrapolation to December 31, 2010 for disclosure purposes.
Stock-based Compensation
Employee stock options are accounted for using the fair-value based method. Under the fair-value based method, compensation cost of a
stock option is measured at fair value at the date of the grant and is expensed over the stock options’ vesting period, with a corresponding
increase to contributed surplus. When these stock options are exercised, the proceeds, together with the amount recorded in contributed
surplus, are recorded in capital stock.
Government assistance
Government assistance is recorded as a reduction of the cost of the asset acquired or expenses incurred when reasonable assurance exists
that the Company has complied with the terms and conditions of the approved grant.
RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
International Financial Reporting Standards
On February 13, 2008, the Canadian Accounting Standards Board confirmed that International Financial Reporting Standards will replace
Canada's current generally accepted accounting principles for publicly accountable profit-oriented enterprises for interim and annual financial
statements effective January 1, 2011. The Company will issue its financial statements in the first quarter of 2011 in accordance with IFRS
including comparative data for 2010.
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Notes to CFS (cont’d)

NOTE 2 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
Accounts receivable are carried on the consolidated balance sheet net of an allowance for doubtful accounts. This provision is established
based on the Company’s best estimate regarding the ultimate recovery of balances for which collection is uncertain as evidenced by such
factors as delay in collection beyond agreed upon payment terms. Management regularly reviews accounts receivable, monitors past due
balances and assesses the appropriateness of the allowance for doubtful accounts.
Accounts receivable are summarized below:
December 31

2010

Trade receivables
Other receivables
Less allowance for doubtful accounts:
Total accounts receivable

27,962
2,229
(101)
30,090

2009

27,958
658
(685)
27,931

Changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts were as follows:
December 31

2010

2009

Allowance for doubtful accounts, beginning of period
Bad debt expense
Recovery
Write-offs
Foreign exchange

685
25
(568)
(39)
(2)

146
669
(133)
3

101

685

Allowance for doubtful accounts, end of period

NOTE 3 INVENTORIES
Inventories are comprised of the following:
December 31

Raw materials
Work-in-progress
Finished goods
Total

2010

2009

26,457
2,550
5,361
34,368

23,837
2,653
6,792
33,282

An inventory write-down to net realizable value of $4.3 million was included in cost of sales during 2009. There was no impairment charge
required in 2010.
NOTE 4 CAPITAL ASSETS

December 31, 2010
Land
Buildings
Equipment

December 31, 2009

Land
Buildings
Equipment

Cost

Accumulated
amortization

Net

2,500
15,155
83,741

6,211
42,471

2,500
8,944
41,270

101,396

48,682

52,714

Cost

Accumulated
amortization

Net

2,500
14,610
80,043

5,404
38,253

2,500
9,206
41,790

97,153

43,657

53,496

Amortization expense for continuing operations for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 was $5.0 million and $5.2 million respectively.
Government assistance grants were $250,000 in 2010 ($168,000 in 2009); capital assets were adjusted accordingly.

NOTE 5 GOODWILL
During the fourth quarter, the Company performed their annual goodwill impairment assessment and determined that there was no impairment in 2010 and 2009.
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Notes to CFS (cont’d)

NOTE 6 OTHER ASSETS
Other assets are comprised of the following:
December 31, 2010
Product development
Patents
Software
Other assets

December 31, 2009

Product development
Patents
Software
Other assets

Cost

Accumulated
amortization

Net

315
113
2,905
288

220
113
1,896
-

95
1,009
288

3,621

2,229

1,392

Cost

Accumulated
amortization

Net

315
113
2,585
1,711

220
113
1,604
-

95
981
1,711

4,724

1,937

2,787

NOTE 7 DEMAND LOAN
The operating facility is $35 million ($35 million in 2009); no amounts are drawn against this facility in the respective years.
The demand loan bears interest at a range from the bank’s prime rate 0.35% to prime plus 0.50% per annum, with respect to loans
denominated in Canadian currency and from the U.S prime rate plus 0.10% to the U.S. prime rate plus 0.25% with respect to loans
denominated in U.S. currency.
The credit/security/letter agreement provides the lenders with a perfected first security interest on all accounts receivable and inventories of
the Company and its subsidiaries, secured guarantees, and an inter-creditor arrangement with the term loan syndicate. Interest expense in
2010 on the demand loan was $0.2 million ($0.4 million in 2009).
NOTE 8 TERM LOAN AND OTHER DEBT
Term Loan
The term loans advanced consist of:
December 31

CDN term debt, bearing interest at 6.18%, five year term, amortized
over 15 years, with principal and interest payable monthly and the balance
repayable October 15, 2011
US $7.2 million term debt, bearing interest at Libor plus 2.25%, five year
term, amortized over 15 years, with principal and interest payable monthly
and the balance repayable October 15, 2011
CDN term debt, bearing interest at 6.39%, seven year term, amortized
over 15 years, with interest payable monthly and no principal payments required
until November 15, 2011
Subtotal
Less principal due within one year
Less Deferred financing fees

2010

2009

6,500

7,100

7,183

8,291

10,000

10,000

23,683
13,794

25,391
1,301

9,889
84

24,090
122

9,805

23,968

Deferred financing fees, less accumulated amortization have been deducted against the term loan for presentation purposes.
The term loan is secured by a general security agreement entered into by the Company and by its subsidiaries supported by collateral
mortgages. Interest expense in 2010 on the term loans was $1.3 million ($1.4 million in 2009).
Other Debt
December 31

Other debt

26

2010

2009

101

101

2010
Notes to CFS (cont’d)

Other debt reflects the remaining principal and accrued interest relating to one promissory note taken back by the vendors of AirBoss
Engineered Products Inc. (formerly Acton International Inc.). The note bears interest at the rate of 8% per annum, is secured by a collateral
mortgage of $1.8 million (2008 – $1.8 million) on the assets of AirBoss Engineered Products Inc., ranks second to the Bank and term lender,
and was repayable on April 20, 2004. The terms of the purchase agreement provided for a recovery of purchase price under certain conditions. During 2002, the Company exercised its right of offset against the vendors’ note for the recovery of purchase price and environmental
costs and suspended payments of principal and interest pending resolution of its claims. During 2006, the Company had settled $1.5 million
of the purchase price (plus accrued interest) under the terms of the agreement. During 2007, the Company settled one of the promissory
notes which reduced the obligation a further $0.25 million. The Company has recorded the net obligation of $0.1 million after offsetting the
recovery of purchase price and environmental costs pursuant to the agreement. Subsequent to year end, the Company was notified that the
superior court rendered a judgement in its favour allowing the parties to offset their respective claims. An appeal may be made within 30 days
of the date of the judgement; the Company is not aware that an appeal was made as of March 23, 2011. Any change in the estimate cannot
be determined until the period to file an appeal terminates.
Principal repayments on the term loan and other debt are as follows:

Term loan and other debt

Total

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

Thereafter

23,784

13,895

667

667

667

7,888

-

NOTE 9 SHARE CAPITAL AND CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS
Share Capital: Authorized – Unlimited number of common shares.
Unlimited number of Class B preference shares without par value and issuable in series subject to the filing of articles of amendment. The
directors may fix, from time to time before such issue, the number of shares that is to comprise each series and the designations, rights,
privileges, restrictions, and conditions attaching to each series.
Issued share capital is as follows:
Common Shares
Number of
Common
Amount
Shares

Balance, December 31, 2008
Exercise of stock options, 2009
Normal Course Issuer Bid repurchase of shares for cancellation

40,537
708
(283)

23,805,423
260,000
(166,400)

Balance, December 31, 2009
Exercise of stock options, 2010
Normal Course Issuer Bid repurchase of shares for cancellation

40,962
161
(565)

23,899,023
43,352
(329,355)

Balance, December 31, 2010

40,558

23,613,020

In 2010 186,000 (2009: 400,000) options were exercised on a cashless basis for 43,352 (2009: 220,000) shares. 329,355 (2009: 166,400)
shares were purchased for cancellation under the Normal Course Issuer Bid and the carrying value of issued share capital was adjusted
accordingly. In 2009, 40,000 options were exercised on a cash basis for 40,000 shares at $2.25 per share.
Contributed Surplus
Contributed surplus is comprised of the difference between the book value per share and the purchase price paid for shares acquired for
cancellation by the Company and stock-based compensation of employees and non-employees.
The contributed surplus is as follows:
Amount

Balance, December 31, 2008
Stock option expense, 2009
Exercise of stock options, 2009
Normal Course Issuer Bid

1,911
382
(617)
(92)

Balance, December 31, 2009
Stock option expense, 2010
Exercise of stock options, 2010
Normal Course Issuer Bid

1,584
819
(161)
(475)

Balance, December 31, 2010

1,767

329,355 (2009: 166,400) shares were purchased for $1,968,000 under the Normal Course Issuer Bid in 2010 and were subsequently
cancelled. The excess purchase price over carrying cost of the shares resulted in a charge against contributed surplus of $475,000
(2009: $92,000).
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Stock Options
The Company has reserved 2,361,302 (2009 – 2,389,902) shares for its stock option plan. Options vest when granted or over a period of up
to five years at the discretion of the board of directors. Options granted to directors and officers of the Company, which were outstanding at
December 31, 2010, are as follows:
Options outstanding

Options exercisable

Range of
exercise price

Options
outstanding

Weighted average
contract life

Weighted average
exercise price

Options
exercisable

Weighted average
exercise price

5.00
3.01
2.80 to 2.85
5.01
5.00
5.27

637,000
80,000
570,000
440,000
120,000
136,000

0.64
2.11
2.63
3.97
4.20
4.63

5.00
3.01
2.84
5.01
5.00
5.27

177,750
40,000
228,000
110,000
-

5.00
3.01
2.84
5.01
5.00
5.27

1,983,000

555,750

Options granted and outstanding:
A summary of the status of the Company’s stock option plan as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, and changes during the years then ended,
is presented below:
2010
Shares

2009

Weighted average
exercise price

Shares

Weighted average
exercise price

Outstanding and exercisable, beginning of year
Granted
Exercised
Cancelled

1,933,000
256,000
(186,000)
(20,000)

4.22
5.14
4.45
4.60

1,933,000
440,000
(440,000)
-

3.60
5.01
2.25
-

Outstanding and exercisable, end of year

1,983,000

4.32

1,933,000

4.22

2010

2009

The fair value of options issued has been determined using the following assumptions:
Assumptions

Risk-free rate
Dividend yield
Volatility factor of the expected market price of Company’s shares
Average expected option life (years)
Weighted-average grant date fair value per share of options granted during the period

2.35% to 2.8%
1.52 % to 1.6%
48.8% to 49.2%
5.0
1.99 to 2.10

2.6%
1.6%
39%
5.00
1.67

The stock options issued vest as follows:
Currently vested
2011
2012
2013
2014

555,750
767,250
308,000
288,000
64,000
1,983,000

Stock Based Compensation
During the year, the Company recorded stock-based compensation on a graded vesting model basis of $0.8 million ($0.4 million in 2009)
relating to current and prior year option grants in general and administrative expenses of the statement of income.
Dividends
A dividend on common shares was paid to shareholders of record quarterly in 2010 and semi-annually in 2009 as follows:
Shareholder of record at:

2010

Date Paid

2009

Date Paid

March 31
June 30
September 30
December 31

0.02
0.03
0.03
0.03

April 21, 2010
July 22, 2010
October 31, 2010
January 20, 2011

0.025
0.04

July 23, 2009
January 21, 2010

0.11
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Normal Course Issuer Bid
In 2010, the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) accepted a notice filed by the Company of its intention to extend the Normal Course Issuer Bid
(“NCIB”) for a one year period. The TSX notice provides that the Company may, during the twelve-month period commencing May 17, 2010
and ending May 16, 2011, repurchase on the TSX up to 1,824,195 common shares representing 10% of the public float. The actual number
of shares purchased, if any, and the timing is determined by the Company considering market conditions, share prices, cash position and
other factors.
During 2010, the Company purchased for cancellation 329,355 (2009: 166,400) of its outstanding common shares pursuant to the NCIB. As
a result of this purchase, the Company recorded a reduction to stated capital and contributed surplus of $0.6 ($0.3 million in 2009) million
and $0.5 million ($0.1 million in 2009) respectively.
NOTE 10 EARNINGS PER SHARE
The following table sets forth the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share:
December 31

Numerator for basic and diluted earnings per share:
Net income
Denominator for basic and diluted earnings per share:
Basic weighted average number of shares outstanding
Dilution effect of stock options
Diluted weighted average number of shares outstanding
Net income per share:
– Basic
– Diluted

2010

2009

13,051

6,276

23,913
314

23,716
-

24,227

23,716

0.55
0.54

0.26
0.26

NOTE 11 INCOME TAXES
The provision for income taxes differs from the amount computed by applying the Canadian statutory income tax rate to income before
income taxes for the following reasons:
December 31

2010

2009

Combined federal and provincial statutory income tax
Change in the valuation allowance for future income tax assets
Effect of change in substantively enacted rate
Differences arising on filing and assessments
Income tax related to non-deductible expenses
Foreign tax differential
Other

5,822
(75)
190
245
1,028
(129)

2,851
(20)
(373)
(555)
852
(205)
169

Total expense

7,081

2,719

4,282
2,799

2,527
192

7,081

2,719

The components of the provision for income taxes are as follows:
Current
Future
Total

The income tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of future income tax assets and liabilities are as follows:
December 31

Future income tax assets:
Non-capital income tax loss carry-forwards
Future income tax deductions relating to long-term liabilities
Less valuation allowance

2010

2009

2,215
795

4,609
1,078

3,010
-

5,687
(21)

3,010

5,666

Future income tax liabilities:
Research and development expenses deducted for accounting in excess of tax purposes
Capital assets

40
(9,137)

58
(9,013)

(9,097)

(8,955)

Net future income tax liability

(6,087)

(3,289)
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In assessing the valuation of future income tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the
future income tax assets will be realized. The ultimate realization of future income tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future
taxable income during the period in which the temporary differences are deductible.
Management considers the scheduled reversals of future income tax liabilities, the character of the income tax asset, and the tax planning
strategies in making this assessment. Management would record a valuation allowance against the future income tax assets if the more likely
than not realization criterion is not met.
The Company has losses of $6.4 million available to offset future income taxes in the US, and has recognized a future income tax asset of US
$2.2 (CAD $2.2 million). These net operating losses have a 15 to 20 year carry forward.

NOTE 12 COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENCIES AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Commitments
The Company is committed under non-cancellable operating lease agreements to minimum rentals for equipment and premises as follows:
Equipment

Premises

Total

2011
2012
2013
2014
Thereafter

317
256
85
16
-

257
201
153
102
-

574
457
238
118
-

Total

674

713

1,387

At December 31, 2010, the Company has exercised all forward contracts. At December 31, 2009, the Company had contracts to sell
US $30.5 million between January and November, 2010 for CAD $33.4 million and contracts to sell GBP £1.0 million between January and
May 2010 for CAD $1.7 million.
Related Party Transactions
Included in the operating lease commitments is a rental agreement for corporate office space between the Company and a company
controlled by the Chairman of the Company. The lease provides for monthly payments equivalent to an annual rental of $90,000 and expires
in August 2012. The lease provides for the purchase of the building should certain events occur which are beyond the control of the
Chairman. The annual rental of $90,000 per annum approximated fair market rental value at the inception of the lease in 2002.
During the year, the Company paid annual dues relating to a facility in South Carolina of approximately $19,800 ($21,800 in 2009) to a
company in which the Chairman is an officer.
The Company provided a $0.1 million share purchase loan to an employee due December 2, 2011 bearing interest at 2 ½% annually with full
recourse and is included in the balance sheet under the caption “other assets”; 30,000 shares of the Company having a fair value of $0.2 million
were pledged as collateral.
Government assistance
AirBoss-Defense received US $109,000 of federal grants in 2010 related to employee training and labour incentives in Vermont.
The rubber compounding division received $59,000 under an electricity retrofit program in 2010. In 2009, the rubber compounding division
received a $50,000 provincial government grant to offset the cost of certain capital projects. AEP received $250,000 ($104,000 in 2009) from
Hydro Québec to assist with energy conservation projects. The capital costs were adjusted accordingly.
AEP also received $182,000 in 2009 to further develop and improve certain intellectual property under an agreement with Defense Research
and Development Canada. No amounts were received in 2010. The grants have been recorded as a cost recovery.
Investment tax credits of $458,000 were recognized in 2010, recorded as a reduction of R&D department costs.
Litigation
In 2004, the Company commenced an Action in the Superior Court of Québec claiming funds due pursuant to the 1999 Agreement of
Purchase and Sale whereby AirBoss acquired the assets of Acton International Inc. Part of the claim was settled pursuant to the filing in May
2007 of a Declaration of Settlement with one of the defendants for substantially the full amount of their 32% share of the Company’s claims.
The remaining claims amount to $2.4 million plus accrued interest of which $1.2 million relates to an environmental claim for clean-up work
completed by the Company and $1.2 million relates to a reduction in purchase price due to the sales of military footwear not reaching
specified targets by 2001.
The remaining defendants have filed a counterclaim against the Company in the amount of $4.8 million plus interest. The trial in this matter
took place before the Superior Court of Montreal in May and June 2010. The Company has recorded their claims as recoverable from the
Defendants, in the case of the environmental claim when the clean-up costs were incurred and in the case of the purchase price reduction
when the conditions were met giving rise to the claim in 2001. After being unable to reach an out of court settlement, the Company has
accrued and expensed $0.5 million at December 31, 2009 and an additional $0.6 million at December 31, 2010 representing the estimated
costs of the trial.
In March of 2011, the Company was informed that it was successful in its claim however its legal counsel has not completed its determination of the financial impact.
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NOTE 13 POST RETIREMENT BENEFITS
The Company maintains an unfunded supplementary employee retirement plan for certain executives “pension plan” and provides post
retirement life insurance benefits to eligible retirees “other benefit plan”.
Pension plan

Other benefit plan

2010

2009

2010

2009

5.25%
N/A

6.50%
N/A

5.25%
N/A

6.50%
N/A

6.50%
N/A

6.00%
N/A

6.50%
N/A

6.00%
N/A

The significant assumptions used are as follows (weighted-average):
Accrued benefit obligation:
Discount rate
Rate of compensation increase
Benefit costs for the years:
Discount rate
Rate of compensation increase
Accrued benefit obligation
Balance, beginning of year
Current service cost
Interest cost
Benefits paid
Actuarial (gains) losses
Balance, end of year
Unamortized net actuarial loss
Unamortized transitional obligation
Accrued benefit liability

2,177
142
361

2,079
90
130
(122)

449
3
26
(27)
26

379
13
27
(24)
54

2,680

2,177

477

449

177

159

300

290

270
2,410

(91)
2,268

Pension plan
2010

Other benefit plan
2009

2010

2009

The elements of the Company's defined benefit plan costs recognized in the year are as follows:
Current service cost
Interest cost

142

90
130

3
26

13
27

Employee future benefits
costs before adjustments

142

220

29

40

-

46
-

5
7
(31)

2
7
(24)

142

266

10

25

Adjustments to recognize the long-term nature
of employee future benefit costs:
Difference between recognized actuarial (gains) losses
and actual actuarial (gains) losses on the accrued
benefit obligation for the year
Amortization of the transitional obligation
Other
Recognized defined benefit costs

NOTE 14 SEGMENTED INFORMATION
The Company is comprised of two significant business segments, each of which has a separate operational management. The Rubber
Compounding segment produces custom rubber compounds used in various industrial applications. The AirBoss Engineered Products
segment (“AEP”) produces rubber protective products, including footwear and gloves, and further processed rubber compounds.
Inter-Company amounts, which represent items purchased from different segments, have been presented within the segment disclosure and
are eliminated to arrive at the consolidated amounts. The Company operates primarily within North America with respect to its rubber
compound and globally with respect to its rubber protective products, and has production facilities in Canada and the United States.
The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies in Note 1. The
Company evaluates performance of its operating segments based on earnings from operations.
Assets employed include accounts receivable, inventories, prepaid expenses, property plant and equipment, goodwill and other assets.
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Net sales excluding Inter-Company
Canada

US

Other

Total

Inter-Company

Rubber Compounding Operations
AEP and Other

54,636
11,246

105,447
63,756

3,172
2,190

163,255
77,192

6,708
12,926

Total

65,882

169,203

5,362

240,447

19,634

Rubber Compounding Operations
AEP and Other

46,883
12,238

85,361
58,993

632
5,814

132,876
77,045

3,531
14,468

Total

59,121

144,354

6,446

209,921

17,999

Rubber Compounding
Operations

AEP &
Other

Corporate and
Inter-Company
Eliminations

Total

169,963
6,424
2,866

90,118
18,155
2,405

2,347
-

2,217
7,182

-

4,564
7,182

Assets employed
Canada
US

71,808
20,073

36,035
4,043

12,083
-

119,926
24,116

Total

91,881

40,078

12,083

144,042

Rubber Compounding
Operations

AEP &
Other

Corporate and
Inter-Company
Eliminations

Total

2010

2009

2010

Net sales
Operating income (loss)
Amortization of capital assets and other assets
Purchase of capital and other assets
Goodwill

(19,634)
(2,836)
84

240,447
21,743
5,355

2009

Net sales
Operating income (loss)
Amortization of capital assets and other assets
Purchase of capital and other assets
Goodwill

136,407
(7,367)
3,277

91,513
17,367
2,220

(17,999)
(2,371)
85

209,921
7,629
5,582

2,068
-

3,693
7,182

28
-

5,789
7,182

Assets employed
Canada
US

53,837
18,921

44,070
2,791

14,348
-

112,255
21,712

Total

72,758

46,861

14,348

133,967

NOTE 15 CHANGES IN NON-CASH WORKING CAPITAL
December 31

2010

2009

Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Income taxes payable

(2,159)
(1,086)
(1,312)
1,406
1,013

3,933
19,567
(111)
(3,032)
(1,637)

Total

(2,138)

18,720
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NOTE 16 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial risk management
The Company's activities result in exposure to a variety of financial risks, including risks related to commodity prices, currency fluctuation,
interest rates, credit, and liquidity.
MARKET RISK
Commodity prices and supplies
The Company’s financial performance depends on certain outside sources for raw materials including carbon black and synthetic and
natural rubber used in the production of its products, the price and availability of which are subject to fluctuations from such factors as
weather, exchange rates and the price of oil, changes in industry production capacity, changes in world inventory levels and other factors
beyond the Company's control.
The Company manages its commodity price and supply risk by matching purchase commitments to its customers’ requirements during term
of the price quote ranging from 1 to 3 months and maintains supply sources in different areas of the world. The Company does not enter into
commodity contracts other than to meet the Company’s expected usage and sale requirements; such contracts are not settled net.
During 2009, margins were impacted by a $4.3 million loss relating to 2008 inventory.
The following table approximates the financial impact (assuming changes are not passed along to its customers) on the Company of a 10%
increase in the cost of its most critical raw materials based upon purchases made in 2010:
$ millions
Increase (decrease)

Earnings before tax

Natural & synthetic rubber
Carbon black

(6.2)
(1.8)

Currency Risk
Most of the Company's products are sold at prices denominated in US dollars or based on prevailing US dollar prices; most of the raw
material purchases are denominated in US dollars, and a significant portion of its operational costs and expenses are incurred in Canadian
dollars. Therefore, an increase in the value of the Canadian dollar relative to the US dollar reduces the revenue in Canadian dollar terms
realized by the Company from sales made in US dollars, which reduces operating margin and the cash flow available to fund operations. The
net US monetary assets of its Canadian operations represent a currency risk as the balances are re-measured at the month end spot rate
creating an unrealized exchange gain or loss. The Company also has an investment in a US integrated operation, whose net monetary
assets are exposed to foreign currency translation risk.
The Company manages its currency risk relating to monetary assets and liabilities denominated in US dollars by increasing or decreasing the
proportion of operating or term loan denominated in US funds or forward currency contracts. The Company chooses to manage the
exchange exposure relating to raw materials purchased in US dollars in the rubber compounding division by offsetting this inventory with US
denominated 30 day LIBOR debt and a 30 day revolving forward contract which are valued at month end rates. The Rubber Compounding
segment’s profit and loss is somewhat naturally hedged in that sales denominated in US dollars offset US dollar expenses and debt service
costs. AEP’s business has relatively lower US dollar expense content and is not naturally hedged.
The following table approximates the following impact on the Company of a $0.10 decrease in the value of one US dollar in Canadian
currency:
$ millions
Increase (decrease)

Earnings before tax

Sales (1)
Purchases (2)

(20.0)
15.1

(1) Based upon US dollar-denominated sales in 2010
(2) Based upon combined 2010 purchases and expenses

Interest Rate Risk
The Company's interest rate risk mainly arises from the interest rate impact on cash, floating rate debt and pension obligation.
When the demand loan and term loan were negotiated, the primary objective was to obtain flexibility to manage its currency exposure and
was willing to accept higher interest rate volatility risk if it could obtain financing in USD on a variable rate basis. By the end of 2010, all net
borrowings are on a fixed rate basis (2009: 79.3 %) and the Company has benefited from the reduction in the variable rates for the year. The
Company has no policy to manage the proportion of borrowings on a fixed rate basis but is assessing its ability to increase its proportion of
fixed rate revolving line of credit and term loan. The Company has not entered into interest rate swap derivatives.
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At the reporting date, the interest profile of the Company’s interest-bearing financial instruments was:
December 31

Fixed rate instruments
Financial assets
Financial liabilities
Variable rate instruments
Financial assets
Financial liabilities
Total

2010

2009

150
(16,601)

150
(17,201)

7,717
(7,183)

3,790
(8,291)

(15,917)

(21,552)

Fair value sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments
A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased or decreased net income and equity by:
Net income and Equity
100bp increase

100bp decrease

2010
Variable rate instruments

(55)

45

2009
Variable rate instruments

(73)

123

This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign exchange rates, remain constant.
Credit Risk
The Company sells its products to a variety of customers under various payment terms in the normal course of its operations and therefore is
exposed to credit risks. The Company’s exposure to credit risk is influenced by general economic conditions, the default risk of the industry
and the relative concentration of business. A majority of the Company’s trade receivables are derived from sales to distributors, and manufacturers who have been transacting with the Company for over five years.
In monitoring credit risk, the Company considers industry, volume and aging trends, maturity, and other relevant factors. The Company
performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers’ financial condition and limits the amount of credit extended when deemed necessary.
Purchase limits established for certain accounts represent the maximum open balance permitted without approval from the CEO. The
Company maintains reserves for potential credit losses relating to specific exposures, and any such losses to date have been within
management’s expectations. One customer represented 17.8% (2009-20.9%) of total sales. Five customers represented 51.9% and 58% of
sales in 2010 and 2009 respectively. The loss of any such customers or the delay or cancellation of any orders under certain high-volume
contracts could have a significant impact on the Company.
The Company believes that its five significant customers are credit worthy and has not recorded a provision for credit risk relating to these accounts.
Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Company’s approach to
managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under normal and
stressed conditions.
The Company manages liquidity by maintaining adequate cash balances, having appropriate lines of credit available and monitoring cash
requirements to meet expected operational expenses including debt service and capital requirements. In addition, the Company maintains a
facility permitting the Company to borrow up to $35 million. At year end, the Company had cash of $15.5 million and no net drawings against
this facility (2009: cash of $5.2 million and no net drawn against the facility).
Fair value of financial instruments
The Company’s financial instruments consist of accounts receivable, demand loan, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, term loan and
other debt. The fair values of accounts receivable, demand loan, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, as recorded in the consolidated
balance sheets approximate their carrying amounts due to the short-term maturities of these instruments. The term loan reflects current
market interest rates therefore the carrying amount approximate fair value. The fair value of the other debt is not readily determinable.
The Company has designated:
•
•
•

Foreign exchange contracts as held-for-trading
Accounts receivable, and note receivables as loans and receivables
Accounts payable, demand loan and term debt as other liabilities

34

2010
Notes to CFS (cont’d)

The carrying value and fair value are as follows:
2010

Held-for-trading
Loans and receivables
Other liabilities

30,240
(37,149)

2009

1,423
28,081
(47,764)

Capital Management
The Company has defined its capital as follows:
2010

Cash
Term loan and other debt
Shareholders’ equity

2009

(13,226)
23,700
79,273

(2,875)
25,370
69,993

89,747

92,488

The Company's business is cyclical and it experiences significant changes in cash flow over the business cycle. In addition, the Company's financial
performance can be materially influenced by changes in the relative value of the Canadian and US dollar.
The Company's fundamental objective in managing capital is to ensure adequate liquidity and financial flexibility at all times, but particularly at the
bottom of the business cycle and in a strong Canadian dollar environment. The Company constantly monitors and assesses its financial
performance in order to ensure that its net debt levels are prudent taking into account the anticipated direction of the business cycle. When
reviewing financing decisions, the Company considers the impact of debt and equity financing on its existing and future shareholders. The
Company has established a committed revolving line of credit that provides liquidity and flexibility when capital markets are restricted.
Directors and Officers currently own 25% or 5,953,148 shares of the Company. Each Director is required to hold shares for value equal to 3 years
retainer fees in order to align objectives with that of shareholders. There is no plan to extend availability of options beyond key management and
senior employees. The Company implemented a dividend policy to provide an additional return to shareholders; the decision to pay dividends is
reviewed quarterly.
The Board will review from time-to-time whether to implement or extend the Normal Course Issuer Bid or an offering if it will be accretive
to shareholders.
The Company’s approach to capital management is expected to remain unchanged in 2011.
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
NOTE 17 SUBSEQUENT EVENT
Subsequent to year end, the Company was notified that the superior court rendered a judgement in its favour allowing the parties to offset
their respective claims relating to its “other debt”. An appeal may be made within 30 days of the date of the judgement; the Company is not
aware that an appeal was made as of March 23, 2011.
Any change in the estimate cannot be determined until the period to file an appeal terminates.
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